

Minireview Article
Biological Processing of Leguminous Plants as Fish Feed Ingredients

ABSTRACT

Fish feed has a crucial role in the success of fish farming, namely influencing growth. Development and use of alternative feed in fish farming as a solution to reduce pressure on natural resources and increase the sustainability of the fisheries sector. The use of legume plants as an alternative fish feed ingredient can be used to support the sustainability of fish farming. This review article aims to collect and provide information about several research results regarding the use of legume plants as ingredients in fish feed. The method used in preparing this review article is a literature review. Many studies have been conducted to evaluate the nutritional potential, availability, and impact of the use of legume plants on fish growth. Leguminous plants have the potential to be used as fish feed ingredients because their protein content ranges from 27-35% and has been proven to have an effect on increasing body weight so they can be used as an alternative feed.

Keywords: Vegetable proteins, legumes, nutritional evaluation

Comment [G11]: How it will increase the growth of fish and what about its side effects

Introduction

The level of productivity of fish farming is influenced by fish feed and growth factors (Handajani 2011). Quality feed really supports the growth process (Wijianto 2022). The main factor that influences growth in fish cultivation and health is feed (Khasani 2013). High quality and balanced nutrition contained in feed is needed by fish for adequate growth in quality and quantity in a short time (Adèyèmi et al. 2020).

Feed is one of the largest expenses in cultivation (Listiwati and Pramono 2014). Feed occupies the largest cost, namely 60% of total production costs (Romansyah 2016). Commercial and artificial feed production is often faced with various problems related to the availability of ingredients that are difficult to obtain and their high prices (Yashni et al. 2020).

There is a need for alternative ingredients with affordable prices, good availability and of course quality nutritional content (Djonu et al. 2020). Forage in wet or flour form is a cheap source of protein that can be used as alternative feed (Listiwati and Pramono 2014).

Leguminosae is a plant that has a high protein content (Puspita et al. 2015). Legume plants are a potential source of vegetable protein because of their high nitrogen content and complete amino acids (Hutasoit et al. 2017).

Therefore, based on the description above, the author is very interested in writing a review article by collecting and providing information about several research results that use legume plants as fish feed

Comment [G12]: Discuss regarding benefits of leguminous plants as alternative feed ingredient give some case studies

Method

This preparation uses a literature review with a narrative literature review method. This method identifies, assesses, and interprets all findings on a research topic. Literature reviews contain descriptions of theories, findings and other research materials obtained from reference materials to serve as a basis for research activities. A literature review is a comprehensive review to find rationale for research that has been carried out or for ideas for further research. Narrative is a series of sentences that are narrative or explanatory in nature. In another sense, narrative is said to be prose whose subject is a series of events. So using the method above is the right way to look for comparisons in research.

Comment [G13]: Add few more lines

Characteristics of Leguminous Plants as Fish Feed Ingredients

So far, fish feed generally still relies on fish meal, a by-product of livestock activities, meat and bone meal as the main source of protein (Waruwu 2022). The decline in fishmeal production and increasing demand for fishmeal has caused a significant increase in the price of fishmeal (Hernandez et al. 2008 in Suprayudi 2011). Therefore, it is necessary to look for alternative feed ingredients to replace or reduce the use of fish meal.

The criteria that must be met by alternative feed ingredients are that they have the nutrients needed by fish in sufficient quantities, are cheaper, the raw materials are available in large quantities, do not compete with

human needs and their continuity is guaranteed (Sari 2018). Raw materials for sources of vegetable protein as alternative feed that are easy to obtain at affordable prices include the use of plants in the form of Indigoferazollingeriana leaves (Mukti et al. 2019), moringa (Maslang et al. 2018), lamtoro (Restiningtyas 2015), gamal (Nazlia 2019)and turi (Meilisza et al. 2021).

In general, the source of vegetable protein in fish feed that is widely used is soy flour where soy flour is relatively expensive, so there is a need for alternative ingredients as a substitute for soy flour which can reduce production costs, especially feed which can ultimately increase fish income and production (Mulyono 2018) . Fish feed ingredients are usually divided into 2 types, namely basal ingredients and supplements. Basal feed ingredients, namely a type of fish food that has a protein content of less than 20%, while supplements have a protein content of more than 20%. (Yunaidi 2019). Several types of legume plants and their nutritional content that can be used as fish feed ingredients can be seen in Table 1.

Table 1.Nutrient Content of Leguminous Plants as Fish Feed Ingredients

Plant Types	Proteins	Fat	Ash Content	Crude Fiber	BETN	Reference
Indigoferazollingeriana	27.08	5.94	12.22	6.61	48.15	Aprilia et al. 2022
Moringa Leaves	27.67	5.61	9.21	16.45	41.05	Indriati and Yuniarsih 2021
Lamtoro leaves	21.63	5.8	6.9	15.4	-	Juwandi et al. 2018
Gamal leaves	16.88	-	10.37	16.97	-	Nazlia 2019
Turi Leaf	31.29	7.57	7.34	27.88	28.02	Aryani and Susilowati 2018

The choice of fish formulation must meet the minimum requirements needed by fish, because it can accelerate growth, shorten the maintenance period, and reduce the risk of death (Yunaidi and Wibowo 2019). Protein requirements in feed range from 27-35%, thus based on Table 1 these plants have the potential to be used as fish feed ingredients (Mose and Saselah 2021). The use of legume plants as fish feed ingredients is constrained by the high level of crude fiber which can reduce the level of feed digestibility, so this can be reduced by fermentation and hydrolysis processes (Suprayudi et al. 2012).

Technology to Improve the Nutritional Quality of Plant Feed Ingredients

The high crude fiber content and the presence of anti-nutritional substances and amino acid composition that is different from plant raw materials are the main obstacles in the use of vegetable materials as raw materials for fish feed (Pamungkas 2012). One effort to overcome these obstacles is fermentation technology (Pamungkas 2011).

Comment [G14]: Add few more lines regarding what is the effect of leguminous ingredient on growth, reproduction and physiology.

Fermentation

Fermentation is a process to increase the digestibility of ingredients because fermented ingredients can change plant material substrates that are difficult to digest into single cell proteins from starter organisms such as Rhizopussp, thereby increasing the digestibility of ingredients (Adelina et al. 2009). The use of Rhizopussp provides added value by producing compounds that can function as antioxidants and antimicrobials (Kurniawan et al. 2019). Rhizopussp also improves nutritional quality, increases digestibility and facilitates the absorption of minerals by converting them into organic matter (Endrawati and Kusumaningtyas 2017). The working principle of the fermentation process is to break down indigestible materials such as cellulose and hemicellulose into simple sugars that are easily digested with the help of microorganisms (Firdayanti2019).

Comment [G15]:

Comment [G16]: Please elaborate

Results

Plants can be used in aquaculture, one of which is as alternative feed (Pamungkas 2012). Biological processing technology and utilization of leguminous plants in fish feed formulations can be seen in table 2:

Table 2. Application of the Use of Leguminous Plants in Fish Feed Formulation

Plant Types	Organism	Bacteria	Dose	Results	Reference
<i>Indigofera zollingeriana</i>	Catfish Pangasius sp.	-	20%	Absolute weight growth was 2.15 g, daily growth rate was 1.00% and feed efficiency was 44.60%	Mukti et al. 2019
Moringa Leaves	Parrot fish	-	7%	The specific growth rate is 0.12% with an average weight of 3.16 grams. At 100% survival rate.	Astiyani et al. 2020
Lamtoro Leaves (<i>Laucaena glauca</i>)	Red Tilapia Fish Seeds	Mold Trichoderma sp.	10%	Provides a real influence ($P < 0.05$) on the RGR, EPP and PER values, namely 2.09%/day respectively; 60.84% and 2.03%.	Restiningtyas 2015
Gamal Leaves	Gourami Fish (<i>Osporonemus gouramy</i>)	EM4 brand commercial probiotic	75%	Absolute weight growth on day 40 showed significantly different results. The treatment value of 75% is significantly different and higher than 25% and 50%.	
Gamal Leaves	Nener Milkfish (<i>Chanos-chanos</i>)	-	20%	Has a significant effect on growth, feed conversion ratio and survival rate of milkfish ($P < 0.05$) and reduces the cost of animal raw materials by 30%.	Aaron et al. 2021
Turi Leaves	Srikandi Tilapia Fish Seeds	<i>Rhizopus oligosporus</i>	10%	The fish biomass growth rate in treatment C (10%) was 7.33 gr and the survival rate was 100%.	Ridho et al. 2017

Discussion

Growth can occur because the feed energy provided exceeds the fish's needs for maintenance (body maintenance) (Setiawati et al. 2008). The greater the available energy, the more sufficient it will be for maintenance needs and the rest will be used for growth. The results of this study indicate that the growth in absolute weight of catfish has a different effect. The highest absolute weight growth was found in the 20% treatment, namely 2.15%. The growth in weight shows that the catfish is able to utilize the nutrients contained in the feed and convert them into energy and body weight (meat) (Mukti et al. 2019).

The daily growth rate has increased, with the increasing addition of Moringa leaf flour to commercial feed. Fish that were given treatment C (Addition of 7% Moringa leaf flour) increased by 0.19 grams every day with an average weight of 3.16 grams. The high growth of tilapia fish is supported by the amino acid content contained in Moringa leaves. According to Paisey (2009), amino acids are part of protein which functions to repair body tissues and organs which are used as an energy source in metabolic processes. Apart from that, amino acids are one of the building blocks of protein, if imperfections occur then the growth system will be disrupted and not run optimally (Astiyani et al. 2020).

Feeding with 10% (C) fermented lamtoro leaves in artificial feed had an influence on the relative growth rate of red tilapia (*O. niloticus*) with the highest value of 2.09 ± 0.07 %/day. These results are different from the

research of Fitriliani (2010) which gave the highest results in relative growth in the 0% treatment with a yield of 2.77 ± 0.44 lamtoro leaf flour which had been hydrolyzed with rumen fluid enzyme extract in sheep. These results suggest that the weight used in this study was smaller than previous research (Fitriliani 2010), namely tilapia fish weighing 7 - 10 g with the total protein produced in the 0% treatment feed being 31.12% (Restiningtyas 2015).

The best treatment was found in treatment C with the use of 20% gamal leaf flour. The high growth in length, absolute weight growth, survival rate and low feed conversion ratio are thought to be caused by the high attractiveness of the feed in this treatment, so that the feed is more responded to and consumed by the milkfish fisherman. The content of gamal leaf flour and fish meal is not excessive compared to treatments A and B so it can increase the palatability of the feed (Harun et al. 2021).

The highest growth was obtained in treatment C with the percentage of added fermented turi leaf flour from the total feed weight of (10%) which was 7.33 gr. It is suspected that the level of use of fermented turi leaf flour in artificial feed is quite optimal, which is supported by the composition of other feed ingredients. According to Alava and Lim (1983) in Ridho et al. (2017), that artificial feed whose components consist of two or more protein sources can trigger fish growth as long as the combination of these protein sources complement each other so that it will provide better results, than feed that only contains one protein source. To achieve nutritional balance in feed, it is best to use protein that comes from vegetable and animal protein sources together (Afrianto and Liviawati 2005 in Ridho et al. 2017).

Conclusion

Based on the description above, it can be concluded that several legume plants have the potential to be used as alternative feed ingredients. This can be seen from the influence of adding these plants to the feed on increasing the weight and digestibility of fish. Alternative feed can be used as a solution to reduce the production cost problem of aquaculture.

Comment [G17]: Add one more lines regarding how we can use leguminous plants as feed alternative

References

- Adelina., I. Boer and I. Suharman. (2009). Aquaculture Fish Feed and Formulation Analysis. Unri Press. Pekanbaru. 102 pp
- Adéyèmiá AD, Adéchéla P, Kayodéa P, Chabia IB, Oloudé B, Oscar O, Martinus JRN, Anita R, Linnemannca. 2020. Screening local feed ingredients of Benin, West Africa, for fish feed formulation. Journal Aquaculture Reports 17. AOAC.
- Apriani, F., Prasetiyono, E., & Syaputra, D. (2019). Growth performance of gouramy (*osphronemus gouramy*) fry when fed with commercial feed added with fermented gamal (*Gliricidia sepium*) leaf flour. Samakia: Journal of Fisheries Science, 10(2), 57-65.
- Aprillia, R., Thaib, A., & Nurhayati, N. (2022). Proximate Analysis of Indigoferazollingeriana Leaf Meal as a Feed Supplement for Raising Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Tilapia Journal, 3(1), 47-53.
- Aryani, A., & Susilowati, T. (2018). Utilization of Fermented Turi (*Sesbania grandiflora*) Leaves in Artificial Feed on the Growth of Goldfish (*Cyprinus carpio*). Journal of Aquaculture Management and Technology, 7(1), 1-9.
- Astiyani, WP, Akbarurasyid, M., Prama, EA, & Revaldy, IG (2020). The Effect of Providing Moringa Leaf Flour (*Moringa oleifera*) in Commercial Feed on the Growth of Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Marlin: Marine and Fisheries Science Technology Journal, 1(2), 91-96.
- Cahyoko Y, Danita GR, Akhmad TM. 2010. The effect of giving maggot flour (*Hermetia illucens*) in artificial feed on growth, feed efficiency and survival of goldfish fry (*Cyprinus carpio* L.). Scientific Journal of Fisheries and Marine Affairs 3(2).
- Djonu, A., Andayani, S., & Nursyam, H. (2020). The effect of adding fermented *Moringa oleifera* (*Rhizopus oligosporus*) leaves on the nutritional content of fish feed. Aquatic Journal, 3(2), 73-78.
- Endrawati D., and E. Kusumaningtyas. (2017). Several functions of *Rhizopus* in increasing the nutritional value of feed ingredients. Wartazoa, 27(2): 81-88.
- Firdayanti, ND (2019). Crude Protein and Crude Fiber Content of Kepok Banana Peel (*Musa Paradisiaca*) Fermented with Probiotics as a Fish Feed Ingredient (Doctoral dissertation, Airlangga University).
- Fitriliani, I. (2011). Effect of Adding Sheep Rumen Fluid Enzyme Extract on Crude Fiber Components, Phytic Acid Content of Lamtoro Gung (*Leucaena leucocephala*) Leaf Flour. Fish Scientiae, 1(1), 67-79.

- Fitriliyani, I. 2010. Evaluation of the nutritional value of hydrolyzed Lamtoro Gung (*Leucaenaleucophala*) Leaf Meal with Sheep Rumen Fluid Enzyme Extract (*Ovisaries*) on the Growth Performance of Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Indonesian Aquaculture*, 9 (1): 30 – 37
- Handajani, H. (2011). Optimizing the substitution of fermented Azolla flour in fish feed to increase the productivity of gift tilapia fish. *Journal of industrial engineering*, 12(2), 177-181.
- Harun, H., Azwar, A., Fajron, R., & Nurhayati, N. (2021). Growth Performance of Milkfish Nener (*Chanos-chanos*) Using Gamal Leaf Meal (*Gliricidia sepium*) as a Feed Ingredient. *TILAPIA Journal*, 2(1), 1-6.
- Hutasoit, R., Taringan, A., & Sirait, J. (2017). Leguminous food crops in an integrated system with orange plantations. *Pastura Journal*, 7(1), 32-36.
- Indriati, M., & Yuniarsih, E. (2021). Effect of Adding Moringa Leaf Flour to the Diet on the Nutritional and Physical Content of Duck Eggs. *Journal of Animal Production Science and Technology*, 9(1), 42-48.
- Juwandi, J., Munir, M., & Fitriani, F. (2018). Evaluation of crude fat content and BETN of lamtoro leaf silage at different levels as the main feed ingredient for complete feed. *Bionature Journal*, 19(2), 112-118.
- Khasani, I. 2013. Attractants for Fish Types, Functions and Fish Responses. *Aquaculture Media* 8(2), 127-133.
- Kurniawan, W., I. Suharman, and Adelina. (2019). The Effect of Fermented Moringa oleifera Leaf Meal in The Formulated Diets of Gouramy (*Osphronemus gouramy*). *Journal of Fisheries and Maritime Affairs*, 24(1): 1-9
- Listiowati, E., & Pramono, TB (2014). Potential use of fermented cassava leaves (*Manihot utilissima*) as a feed ingredient for tilapia (*Oreochromis* sp.). *Teruk Fisheries Periodical*, 42(2).
- Maslang, M., Malik, AA, & Sahabuddin, S. (2018). Substitution of Moringa Leaf Flour for Growth Survival and Feed Conversion of Tilapia Seeds. *Tropical Galung Journal*, 7(2), 132-138.
- Masriah, A., Aslamyah, S., & Zainuddin, Z. (2018). Hydrolysis of fish feed using cow rumen liquid hydrolysis of fish feed using cow rumen liquid. *Octopus: journal of fisheries science*, 7(1), 704-708.
- Meilisza, N., Yunita, E., Murniasih, S., Hirnawati, R., Sholichah, L., & Muta'al, DU (2021). Utilization of turi leaf flour in feed for color quality and growth of Kurumoi Rainbow Fish (*Melanotaenia parva*). *Journal of Fish Nutrition*, 1(1), 30-47.
- Mose, N.I., & Saselah, J.T. (2021). Growth and Survival of Tilapia Fish with the Addition of Fermented Wori Flour (*Ormocarpum Cochinchinense*) in Feed. *Tindalung Scientific Journal*, 7(2), 1-6.
- Mukti, RC, Yonarta, D., & Pangawikan, AD (2019). Utilization of Indigofera zollingeriana leaves as feed for catfish (*Pangasius* sp.). *Depik*, 8(1), 18-25.
- Mulyono, AM (2018). Study of the Use of Indigoferazollingeriana Leaf Shoot Flour as a Substitute for Soybean Flour for Feed for *Osphronemus gourami* Gourami Fish (Lacepede, 1801).
- Nazlia, S. (2019). Application of Fermented Gamal (*Gliricidia sepium*) Leaf Flour as a Feed Ration Compound on the Growth Rate of Nile Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Scientific Journal of Ocean Aquatics*, 3(1), 6-11.
- Pamungkas, W. (2011). Fermentation technology, an alternative solution in efforts to utilize local feed ingredients. *Aquaculture Media*, 6(1), 43-48.
- Pamungkas, W. (2012). The use of rumen fluid enzymes as an alternative to support the use of local fish feed raw materials. *Aquaculture Media*, 7(1), 32-38.
- Pamungkas, W. (2012). The use of rumen fluid enzymes as an alternative to support the use of local fish feed raw materials. *Aquaculture Media*, 7(1), 32-38.
- Puspita, T., Andriani, Y., & Hamdani, H. (2015). Utilization of Peanut Cake in Fish Feed on the Growth Rate of Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Journal of Marine Fisheries*, 6(2 (1)).
- Putra, AN (2020). National Journal, Journal of Local Food Security (Leuit). Utilization of Water Hyacinth (*Eichornia crassipes*) as Tilapia Fish Feed: Effects on growth and Feed Digestibility, 1(2), 77-82.
- Putra, AN, Maula, IM, Aryati, A., Syamsunarno, MB, & Mustahal, M. (2020). Evaluation of Moringa leaf flour (*Moringa oleifera*) hydrolyzed from sheep rumen fluid as raw material for catfish (*Clarias* sp.) feed. *Gadjah Mada University Fisheries Journal*, 22(2), 133-140.
- Putranti GP, Subandiyono, Pinandoyo. 2015. The effect of different proteins and energy in artificial feed on the efficiency of feed utilization and growth of goldfish (*Cyprinus carpio*). *Journal of Aquaculture Management and Technology* 4(3): 38-45.
- Rahmadani, S., Setyowati, DNA, & Lestari, DP (2020). The effect of substitution of cassava leaf flour (*manihotutilissima*) fermented using rhizopus sp. In feed on the growth and survival of goldfish (*Cyprinus carpio*) fry. *Unram Fisheries Journal*, 10(1), 70-76.

- Restiningtyas, R. (2015). Utilization of fermented lamtoro leaf flour (*Laucaenagluca*) in artificial feed on the growth of red tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) fry. *Journal of Aquaculture Management and Technology*, 4(2), 26-34.
- Ridho, MR, Soeprapto, H., & Syakirin, MB (2017). Application of Fermented Turi Leaf Flour in Artificial Feed on the Growth of Srikandi Tilapia Fish Seeds (*Oreochromis aureus x niloticus*). *Pen Aquatics: Scientific Journal of Fisheries and Marine Affairs*, 15(1).
- Romansyah, MA (2016). Technique for Making Artificial Gourami Fish Feed (*Osphronemus gouramy*) at CV. Mentari Nusantara, Batokan Village, Ngantru District, Tulungagung Regency, East Java Province.
- Sari, IY (2016). Study of the Addition of Tapioca Flour as a Binder in Artificial Feed on the Growth of Gift Tilapia (*Oreochromis* sp.).
- Setiawati, M., Sutajaya, R., Suprayudi, MA 2008. The effect of differences in protein content and feed protein energy ratio on the growth performance of goldfish fingerlings. *Indonesian Aquaculture Journal*, 7(2): 171-178.
- Suprayudi, MA, Dimahesa, W., Jusadi, D., Setiawati, M., & Ekasari, J. (2011). Supplementation of crude enzymes from sheep's rumen fluid in feed based on vegetable protein sources to stimulate the growth of tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Indonesian Journal of Ichthyology*, 11(2), 177-183.
- Suprayudi, MA, Edriani, G., & Ekasari, J. (2012). Evaluation of the quality of fermented products of various local agro-industry by-product raw materials: their effect on digestibility and growth performance of juvenile goldfish. *Indonesian Aquaculture Journal*, 11(1), 1-10.
- Waruwu, Y. (2022). Substitution of fish meal with black soldier fly maggot meal (*hermetia illucens*) in the ration on the percentage of commercial cuts of broiler chicken carcasses (*gallus-gallus domesticus*) aged 35 days.
- Wijianto, W., Linayati, L., & Maghfiroh, M. (2022). Addition of Papaya Fruit Flour (*Carica papaya* L.) on the Growth and Feed Conversion Ratio of Milkfish (*Chanoschanos*). *Pen Aquatics: Scientific Journal of Fisheries and Marine Affairs*, 21(2), 51-60.
- Yashni G, Adel A, Radin MSRM, Vikneswara VAS, Nadiro HMN, Juliza AB, Siti NAM, Salleh. 2020. Physical properties of fish feed containing household waste as an alternative substitute in newly developed soft dry fish feed for red tilapia. *Materials Today: Proceedings*
- Yunaidi, RP, & Wibowo, A. (2019). Application of artificial pellet feed to increase the productivity of freshwater fish cultivation in Jerukagung Srumbung village, Magelang. *Empowerment Journal: Publication of Community Service Results*, 3(1), 45-54.
- Yunaidi, RP, & Wibowo, A. (2019). Application of artificial pellet feed to increase the productivity of freshwater fish cultivation in Jerukagung Srumbung village, Magelang. *Empowerment Journal: Publication of Community Service Results*, 3(1), 45-54.